

02/23/2022 0531-08 21-MED-04-0609 41480

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

BY AND BETWEEN

THE CITY OF SOLON, OHIO

AND

THE OHIO PATROLMEN'S BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION

(SERGEANTS AND LIEUTENANTS)

SERB CASE # 2021-MED-04-0609

TERM: JANUARY 1, 2022 THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I PREAMBLE	
ARTICLE II PURPOSE AND INTENT	3
ARTICLE III RECOGNITION	3
ARTICLE IV DUES AND DEDUCTIONS	4
ARTICLE V AGENCY SHOP	
ARTICLE VI MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	5
ARTICLE VII EMPLOYEE RIGHTS	5
ARTICLE VIII NO STRIKE	6
ARTICLE IX DISCIPLINE	7
ARTICLE X ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATION	8
ARTICLE XI GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	8
ARTICLE XII ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	10
ARTICLE XIII GENDER AND PLURAL	
ARTICLE XIV OBLIGATION TO NEGOTIATE	11
ARTICLE XV CONFORMITY TO LAW	12
ARTICLE XVI DUTY HOURS	
ARTICLE XVII OVERTIME PAY AND COURT TIME	12
ARTICLE XVII-A COMPENSATORY TIME	13
ARTICLE XVIII HOLIDAYS	14
ARTICLE XIX VACATIONS	15
ARTICLE XX SICK LEAVE	17
ARTICLE XXI FUNERAL LEAVE	19
ARTICLE XXII INJURY LEAVE	20
ARTICLE XXIII JURY DUTY LEAVE	21
ARTICLE XXIV COMPENSATION	21
ARTICLE XXV LONGEVITY	22
ARTICLE XXVI EDUCATIONAL AND OTHER PAYS	22
ARTICLE XXVII UNIFORM ALLOWANCE/MAINTENANCE	23
ARTICLE XXVIII PROFICIENCY ALLOWANCE	24
ARTICLE XXIX INSURANCE	
ARTICLE XXX DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE POLICY AND RULE	ES FOR
CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE AND ALCOHOL TESTING	26
ARTICLE XXXI MISCELLANEOUS	33
ARTICLE XXXII LAYOFFS	
ARTICLE XXXIII LABOR MANAGEMENT RELATIONS	34
ARTICLE XXXIV SAVINGS CLAUSE	
ARTICLE XXXV GROUP HEALTH CARE REIMBURSEMENT ACCOUNT	34
ARTICLE XXXVI TUITION REIMBURSEMENT PURPOSE	35
ARTICLE XXXVII DURATION OF AGREEMENT	
ARTICLE XXXVIII EXECUTION	39
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (EXHIBIT A)	40
EXHIBIT A EMERGENCY REQUEST FOR VOLUNTARY SICK LEAVE DON.	ATION
FORM	42
EXHIBIT B	43

ARTICLE I PREAMBLE

This Agreement is hereby entered into by and between the City of Solon, hereinafter referred to as "the Employer," and the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association, hereinafter referred to as "the OPBA," representing the Sergeants and Lieutenants of the Solon Police Department, hereinafter referred to individually as "employee" and collectively "employees."

ARTICLE II PURPOSE AND INTENT

In an effort to continue harmonious and cooperative relationships between the parties and to insure orderly and uninterrupted efficient operations, the parties now desire to enter into an Agreement reached through collective bargaining which will have for its purposes, among others, the following:

- (1) To recognize the legitimate interests of the employees of the Employer to participate through collective bargaining in the determination of the terms and conditions of their employment;
- (2) To promote fair, safe, and reasonable working conditions;
- (3) To promote individual efficiency and service to the City of Solon;
- (4) To avoid interruption or interference with the efficient operation of the Employer's business; and
- (5) To provide a basis for the adjustment of matters of mutual interest by means of amicable discussion.

ARTICLE III RECOGNITION

- The Employer recognizes the OPBA as exclusive representative for negotiating wages and salaries, hours of work, and all other terms and conditions of employment for all regular, full-time sergeants and lieutenants of the Solon Police Department (hereinafter "employees"); excluding the Chief, Assistant Chief, Dispatchers, Patrolmen, and all other employees of the Employer.
- 2) The Employer will furnish the OPBA with a list of all employees in the classifications covered by this Agreement indicating their starting date of employment. Such list will be furnished no less than annually and will be supplemented by the names of all new employees as hired.
- 3) Employees with the same employment date shall be assigned to the seniority list in order of their ranking on the Civil Service Exam Eligibility List.

ARTICLE IV DUES AND DEDUCTIONS

- 1) During the term of this Agreement, the Employer shall deduct initiation fees, assessments levied by the OPBA and the regular monthly OPBA dues from the wages of those employees who have voluntarily signed dues deduction authorization forms permitting said deductions.
- 2) No new authorization forms will be required from any employees in the City of Solon for whom the Employer is currently deducting dues.
- The initiation fees, dues or assessments so deducted shall be in the amounts established by the OPBA from time to time in accordance with its Constitution and Bylaws. The OPBA shall certify to the Employer the amounts due and owing from the employees involved.
- 4) The Employer shall deduct dues, initiation fees or assessments from the first pay in each calendar month. If an employee has no pay due on that date, such amounts shall be deducted from the next or subsequent pay.
- 5) A check in the amount of the total due withheld from those employees authorizing a dues deduction shall be tendered to the treasurer of the OPBA within thirty (30) days from the date of making said deductions.
- The OPBA hereby agrees to hold the Employer harmless from any and all liabilities or damages which may arise from the performance of its obligations under Articles IV and V and the OPBA shall indemnify the Employer for any such liabilities or damages that may arise.

ARTICLE V AGENCY SHOP

All members of the bargaining unit, as identified in Article III of this Agreement, shall either:

- 1) Maintain their membership in the OPBA;
- 2) Become members of the OPBA; or
- 3) Pay a service fee to the OPBA in an amount not to exceed the monthly dues for membership in the OPBA,

As a condition of employment, all in accordance with Ohio Revised Code Section 4117.09. In the event that a service fee is to be charged to a member of the bargaining unit, the Employer shall deduct such fee in the same manner as dues are deducted as specified in Article IV of this Agreement, entitled "Dues Deduction."

ARTICLE VI MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

The management and direction of the working force in all its phases are vested and shall remain vested exclusively in the City, and this shall include but not be limited to the right to:

- 1) Manage the operation;
- 2) Control the premises;
- 3) Maintain efficiency of operations;
- 4) Hire; discipline and discharge for just cause; lay-off, and promote;
- 5) Promulgate and enforce reasonable employment rules and regulations, including those affecting meal periods and leaves of absence, provided such rules or regulations are not in conflict with any of the specific provisions of this Agreement;
- Reorganize, discontinue, or enlarge any department or division; transfer employees (including the assignment and allocation of work) within departments;
- 7) Introduce new and/or improved equipment, methods, and/or facilities;
- 8) Determine work methods; determine the size and duties of the work force; the number of shifts required and work schedules;
- 9) Establish, modify, consolidate, or abolish jobs (or classifications); determine staffing patterns, including but not limited to assignment of employees, number employed, duties to be performed, qualifications required, and areas worked;
- 10) Maintain and improve the efficiency of the department; determine the overall mission of the department and all other rights of management except those limited by any specific provision of this Agreement.

ARTICLE VII EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

- 1) The employee shall be simultaneously furnished with a copy of any departmental charge that is transmitted to the Chief. A copy will also be provided to the Senior OPBA Director.
- 2) Before an employee may be charged with any violation of the Rules and Regulations for a refusal to answer questions or participate in an investigation, he/she shall be advised that his/her refusal to answer such questions or participate in such investigation will be the basis of such a charge.
- 3) Investigations shall be conducted as reasonable times giving due consideration to the urgency of the matter under investigation, allowing for rest periods and attendance to physical necessities.
- An employee may request an opportunity to review his/her personnel file at reasonable times and shall upon request, be granted free charge up to ten (10) copies per year of material contained in the personnel file in excess of ten (10) copies shall be given to the employee at five (5) cents per copy provided copies are made during non-working hours by the employee and at a time approved by the Chief or his designee. An employee shall have the right to comment in his/her own handwriting and attach to items in his/her

personnel file on any adverse material contained in such file and may have a representative of the OPBA present when reviewing his/her file. No item shall be removed from a file.

- In the course of an internal investigation, a polygraph examination and/or voice stress analyzer will be administered only with the consent of the employee under investigation. If, in the course of an internal investigation, an employee has been given a polygraph examination and/or voice stress analysis, such examination and/or analysis shall not be used in any subsequent court action, except in accordance with applicable rules of evidence.
- All complaints by civilians, which may involve suspension or discharge of an employee, shall be in writing and signed by the complainant. The Employer will furnish a copy of the complaint to the employee whom the complaint has been filed against when such employee is notified of the investigation. A copy will also be provided to the Senior OPBA Director. This section shall not apply to criminal investigations.
- Written reprimands and written records of verbal reprimands that are more than two (2) years old shall not be used against an employee for purposes of progressive discipline nor introduced into any grievance or arbitration hearing, except that prior disciplinary action, regardless of the date of issuance, may be introduced for purposes of rebuttal. In addition, written reprimands and records of verbal reprimands that are more than three (3) years old shall not be used against an employee for purposes of prior similar conduct. Suspensions that are more than four (4) years old shall not be used by the Employer to support current disciplinary action except prior similar conduct, regardless of when such conduct occurred. In no event shall records of disciplinary action be removed from any personnel file.
- 8) The City will maintain only one (1) personnel file for each employee, so long as certain data and other files may be maintained by other City employees (i.e. Human Resources Manager, Finance Director, police personnel, Civil Service Commission, and others as needed).
- 9) Any anonymous complaint will not be kept in the employee's personnel file, but will be kept in a separate file for anonymous complaints.
- Any unfounded or unsustained complaint will not be kept in the employee's personnel file, but will be kept in a separate file for unfounded and unsustained complaints.

ARTICLE VIII NO STRIKE

1) The Employer and the OPBA agree that the grievance procedure provided herein is adequate to provide a fair and final determination of all grievances arising under this Agreement. It is the desire of the Employer and the OPBA to avoid work stoppage and strikes.

- 2) Neither the OPBA nor any member of the bargaining unit, for the duration of this Agreement, shall engage in or directly or indirectly assist in any strike, work stoppage, slowdown, concerted use of sick leave or other similar conduct. The OPBA shall not be held liable for the unauthorized activity of the employees it represents or its members, who are in breach of this section, provided that the OPBA meets all of its obligations under this Article.
- The OPBA shall, at all times, cooperate with the Employer in continuing operations in a normal manner and shall actively discourage and attempt to prevent any violation of the "no-strike" clause. If the Employer seeks injunctive relief against any unlawful strike pursuant to Section 4117.15(A) O.R.C.; the OPBA shall cooperate with the City by not opposing such relief.
- In the event of a violation of the "no-strike" clause, the OPBA shall promptly notify all employees, in a reasonable manner, that the strike is in violation of this Agreement, unlawful and not sanctioned or approved of by the OPBA. The OPBA shall advise the employees to return to work immediately. The OPBA shall furnish a copy of this notice to the city within 4 hours of its issuance.
- 5) The Employer shall not lock out any employees for the duration of this Agreement. Layoff for lack of work or for budgetary consideration shall not be deemed as a lock out.

ARTICLE IX DISCIPLINE

- 1) Disciplinary action taken by the Employer shall only be for just cause.
- A non-probationary employee who is suspended, demoted, or discharged shall be given written notice regarding the reason(s) for the disciplinary action. An employee who receives a reprimand by email or voicemail shall receive a written notice via hard paper of such reprimand. A copy of either of the above shall also be provided to the Senior OPBA Director.
- Prior to any suspension or discharge being effective, the non-probationary employee shall be notified in writing of the reasons for the suspension or discharge and shall be afforded an opportunity to respond in writing within five (5) calendar days after receipt of notice. A copy will also be provided to the Senior OPBA Director. Such response may, at the employee's election, contain statements of such witnesses and other personas as the employee may wish to present in his/her behalf. At the Employer's discretion, an employee may be suspended with pay prior to receipt of the employee's response.
- 4) In the event of discharge, the employee may appeal such action to either the Civil Service Commission or the grievance procedure as provided herein. An appeal through either shall waive the employee's right to an appeal through the other. Disciplinary action other than discharge shall be subject only to the grievant procedure.

5) Disciplinary action appealed through the grievance procedure may be filed directly at Step 2. Grievances protesting discharges may be filed directly at Step 3, provided that the Chief or his designee is notified at the time of the filing.

ARTICLE X ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATION

- The parties recognize that it may be necessary for an OPBA director to leave a normal work assignment without loss of pay while acting in the capacity of representative. The OPBA recognizes the operational needs of the Employer and will cooperate to keep to a minimum the time lost from work by representatives. Before leaving an assignment pursuant to this section, the representative must obtain approval from the sergeant or lieutenant in charge of the shift.
- All notices required in this Agreement to be given by either party to the other or by any employee to the Employer or vice versa shall be given by depositing same in the police station personal mail and/or the Employer's email system, unless the employee to whom the notice is directed is on vacation or leave of absence, in which case it shall be sent to his/her home, or if the employee should consent to receiving such notices via personnel email. Notice by an employee to the Employer via personnel email is sufficient to show consent for that specific issue.

ARTICLE XI GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- 1) Every employee shall have the right to present his/her grievance in accordance with the Procedures provided herein, free from any interference, coercion, restraint, discrimination, or reprisal and except at Step 1, shall have the right to be represented by a person of his/her own choosing at all stages of the Grievance Procedure. The Employer shall only be required to resolve grievances with the grievant or the OPBA or its representative. It is the intent and purpose of the parties to this Agreement that all grievances shall be settled, if possible, at the lowest step of the procedure.
- 2) For the purposes of this procedure, the below listed terms are defined as follows:
 - a) Grievance A "grievance" shall be defined as a dispute or controversy arising from the misapplication or misinterpretation of the specific and express written provisions of this Agreement.
 - b) Grievant The "grievant" shall be defined as any employee, group of employees within the bargaining unit or the OPBA.
 - c) Days a "day" as used in this procedure shall mean calendar days, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, or Holidays as provided for in this Agreement.
- 3) The following procedure shall apply to the administration of all grievances filed under this procedure.

- a) Except at Step 1, all grievances shall include the name and position of the grievant, the identity of the provisions under this Agreement involved in the grievance; the time and place where the alleged event(s) or condition(s) giving rise to the grievance took place, the identity of the party responsible for causing the grievance, if known to the grievant and a general statement of the nature of the grievance and the redress sought by the grievant. If the grievance does not contain all the required information listed above, the Chief or his designee shall have the right to reject said grievance and request a more definite grievance. The Grievant shall notify the Chief or his designee of the more definite Grievance within five (5) days of the notice of such rejection and request for a more definite grievance. Failure to submit the more definite grievance within five (5) days of the notice of the Chief's or his designee's rejection set forth herein shall terminate the grievance.
- b) Except at Step 1, all decisions shall be rendered in writing at each step of the grievance procedure. Each decision shall be transmitted to the grievant and the OPBA.
- c) Nothing contained herein shall be construed as limiting the right of any employee having a grievance to discuss the matter informally with the shift officer or the Chief and having said matter informally adjusted without the intervention of the OPBA, provided that the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement. In the event that the grievance is adjusted without formal determination, pursuant to this procedure, such adjustment shall be binding upon the grievant and shall, in all respects, be final.
- d) The methods for resolution of complaints regarding alleged violations of this Agreement set forth in this Agreement shall be the sole and exclusive method for the determination of such complaints and no party nor any employee covered by this Agreement shall commence any action in any other forum other than to compel arbitration or to prevent a violation of the no-strike, no-lockout clause or to enforce the award of an arbitrator's decision hereunder.
- e) The parties may, by written mutual agreement, bypass or otherwise waive any step of the grievance procedure.
- f) The time limits provided herein will be strictly adhered to and any grievance not filed initially or appealed within the specified time limits will be deemed waived and void. If the Employer fails to reply within the specified time limit, the grievance shall be deemed denied. The time limits specified for either party may be extended only by written mutual agreement.
- g) This procedure shall not be used for the purposes of adding to, subtracting from, or altering in any way, any of the provisions of this Agreement.
- 4) All grievances shall be administered in accordance with the following steps of the grievant procedure.
 - An employee who believes he/she may have a grievance shall notify his/her immediate supervisor of the possible grievance within five (5) days of the occurrence of the facts giving rise to the grievance. The supervisor will schedule an informal meeting with the Department Personnel Officer, the employee and the OPBA representative, if such representation is

requested by the employee, within five (5) days of the notice of the employee, at which time the issue in dispute will be discussed with the objective of resolving the matter informally.

- Step 2 If the dispute is not resolved informally at Step 1, it shall be reduced to writing by the grievant or the OPBA and presented as the grievance to the Chief or his designee within five (5) days of the informal meeting or notification of the supervisor's decision at Step 1, whichever is later, but not later than seven (7) days from the date of the meeting if the supervisor fails to give the employee an answer. The procedure set forth in 3) A) above shall apply to a grievance reduced to writing herein. If a grievance complies with said procedure, the Chief or his designee will schedule a meeting with the employee and an OPBA representative, if such representative is requested by the employee, within seven (7) days of the notice of the employee, and shall give his/her answer within seven (7) days of the meeting.
- Step 3 If the OPBA is not satisfied with the written decision at the conclusion of Step 2, a written appeal of the decision may be filed with the Mayor or his designee within seven (7) days from the date of the rendering of the decision at Step 2. Copies of the written decisions shall be submitted with the appeal. The Mayor or his designee shall convene a hearing within ten (10) days of the receipt of the appeal. The hearing will be held with the grievant, his/her OPBA representative and any other party necessary to provide the required information for the rendering of a proper decision. The Mayor or his designee shall issue a written decision to the employee and his/her OPBA representative within ten (10) days from the date of the hearing. If the OPBA is not satisfied with the decision at Step 3, it may proceed to arbitration pursuant to the Arbitration Procedure herein contained.
- The Grievant and/or the OPBA representatives may audio record any and all of the Grievance Procedure steps. The Grievant and/or the OPBA representative must inform the employer of the intent to tape record he proceedings. The Employer will receive a copy of the audio recording and/or transcript, if recorded.

ARTICLE XII ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

In the event a grievance is unresolved after being processed through all steps of the Grievance Procedure, unless mutually waived, then within ten (10) days (postmarked) after the receipt of the decision at step 3, the OPBA may submit the grievance to arbitration by notifying the Employer in writing of such fact. Within ten (10) days after receipt of such notice, the parties will meet to attempt to mutually agree upon an arbitrator. If such agreement is not reached, the parties shall mutually request the American Arbitration Association to submit a panel of arbitrators in accordance with the rules of the AAA.

- 2) The arbitrator shall have no power or authority to add to, subtract from, or in any manner, alter the terms of this Agreement or to make any award requiring the commission of any act prohibited by law or to make any award that itself is contrary to law.
- 3) The hearing or hearings shall be conducted pursuant to the "Rules of Voluntary Arbitration" of the American Arbitration Association.
- 4) The fees and expenses of the arbitrator and the cost of the hearing room, if any, shall be borne by the losing party. All other expenses shall be borne by the party incurring them. Neither party shall be responsible for any of the expenses incurred by the other party.
- An employee requested to appear at the arbitration hearing by either party shall attend without the necessity of subpoena and without loss of pay if he/she is otherwise scheduled to work, for all hours during which his/her attendance is required by either party. Any request made by either party for the attendance of witnesses shall be made in good faith, and at no time shall the number of on duty employees in attendance exceed two (2) employees.
- 6) The arbitrator's decision and award will be in writing and delivered within thirty (30) days from the date the record is closed. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding upon the parties.

ARTICLE XIII GENDER AND PLURAL

Whenever the context so requires, the use of the words herein in the singular shall be construed to include the plural, and words in the plural, the singular, and words whether in the masculine, feminine or neuter genders shall be construed to include all the said genders. By the use of either the masculine or the feminine genders it is understood that said use is for convenience purposes only and is not to be interpreted to be discriminatory by reason of sex.

ARTICLE XIV OBLIGATION TO NEGOTIATE

- 1) The Employer and the OPBA acknowledge that during the negotiations which preceded this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining and that the understanding and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement.
- Therefore, for the life of this Agreement, the Employer and the OPBA each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated to negotiate collectively with respect to any subject or matter referred to, or covered in this Agreement, or with respect to any subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered in this Agreement, even though such subjects or matters may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time they negotiated and signed this Agreement.

3) This Agreement shall not be modified or amended except in writing executed by both parties.

ARTICLE XV CONFORMITY TO LAW

- 1) This Agreement, to the extent permitted by law, shall supersede all applicable present and future state laws, local ordinances, rules, and regulations to the extent such laws, ordinances or rules and regulations are inconsistent herewith.
- 2) If the enactment of legislation, or a determination by a court of final and competent jurisdiction (whether in a proceeding between the parties or in one not between the parties) renders any portion of this Agreement invalid or unenforceable, such legislation or decision shall not affect the validity of the surviving portions of this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect as if such invalid portion thereof had not been included therein.

ARTICLE XVI DUTY HOURS

- A) The regular workweek for all employees of the Employer who normally work an 8 hour or 10 hour shift and are covered by this Agreement will be forty (40) hours. Ten hour shifts are currently contemplated for short-term assignments, training, and specialized units and shall not be implemented as the regular uniform patrol duty schedule without additional negotiation or agreement between the parties.
 - B) The regular schedule for all employees of the Employer who normally work a 12 hour shift and are covered by this Agreement will be 84 hours in a two week pay period. Each affected employee will be granted one twelve (12) hour Kelly Day as time off each six weeks to appropriately reduce the total hours worked each pay period, on average, to eighty (80) hours.
- 2) The Chief will continue to be responsible for scheduling all employees. He will endeavor to give all employees seventy-two (72) hours advance notice of any scheduling changes, except substitutions due to absenteeism, emergencies, or other unforeseen circumstances.
- Employees shall not regularly be assigned to work more than one shift in the regular assignment period (presently 42 days) unless changed by mutual consent.

ARTICLE XVII OVERTIME PAY AND COURT TIME

A) All employees who normally work eight (8) or ten (10) hour shifts, for work performed in excess of forty (40) hours in one week or eight (8) or ten (10) hours in one day, when approved of by the Chief, shall be compensated at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) times the employee's regular hourly rate for all overtime. Employees may elect

to take compensatory time off in lieu of overtime pay, at the rate of one and one-half (1–1/2) hours for each clock hour of work, in accordance with the provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act and Department of Labor Regulations. Compensatory time must be taken prior to an employee's effective date of retirement, unless such retirement is unplanned.

- B) All employees who normally work twelve (12) hour shifts, for work performed in excess of 84 hours in a two week pay period, in excess of 12 hours in one day, or on a regularly scheduled Kelly Day, when approved by the Chief, shall be compensated at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) times the employee's regular hourly rate for all overtime. Employees may elect to take compensatory time off in lieu of overtime pay, at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) hours for each clock hour of work, in accordance with the provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act and Department of Labor Regulations. Compensatory time must be taken prior to an employee's effective date of retirement, unless such retirement is unplanned.
- Whenever approved by the Chief, employees working on an "on call status," either called into work, attending a required school or training session, or appearing in court on behalf of the Employer for a time period of less than four (4) hours when the employee is not on duty, shall be compensated not less than four (4) hours at the rate of one and one-half (1-½) times their regular hourly rate unless such hours are contiguous with an employee's scheduled shift. Any departmental meetings will be compensated not less than three (3) hours at the rate of one and one half (1½) times their regular hourly rate.
- Regular hourly rate as such term is used in this Agreement shall mean the annual salary plus longevity pay and proficiency allowance, if any, divided by 2080.
- 4) Compensation shall not be paid more than once for the same hours under any provision of this Article or Agreement.

ARTICLE XVII-A COMPENSATORY TIME

- 1) Employees may elect to take compensatory time off in lieu of overtime at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) hours for each clock hour of work.
- The maximum number of hours that can be accumulated and carried over from one year to the next is 112 hours. Between January 1 and November 30, employees may accumulate compensatory time in excess of 112 hours, up to a maximum of 240 hours. Any hours in excess of 112 hours as of November 30 shall be paid during the first pay period in December. Any compensatory time paid out will be pensionable. Employees may then begin accumulating compensatory hours in excess of 112 beginning December 1st of that same year.
- 3) The use of compensatory time, in any total amount, is permitted provided there is no necessity to cover manpower requirements through the use of overtime. Compensatory time must be used in ½ hour increments.

- a) All employees who request for full compensatory time days (8, 10, or 12 hour shifts) must be submitted for approval 24 hours in advance as are Holidays and Vacation Days.
- b) All employees who request less than one full shift (8, 10, or 12 hours) of comp time require prior shift officer approval and submission of the appropriate time off request. The form must be properly completed and signed, indicating the hours of compensatory time used.
- 4) Cancellation and/or Reassignment of Compensatory Time.
 - a) If for any reason, overtime would be created, such as a subsequent Holiday or Vacation Day approval or someone calling in sick, the compensatory time day would be automatically canceled.
 - b) The canceled compensatory time day will be replaced with a Holiday or Vacation Day if the person who had submitted the request for the compensatory time day off has indicated on the time off or computer request form his desire to apply one of his Vacation Days or Holidays in place of his canceled compensatory time day.
 - c) The only exception to the cancellation of a compensatory time day is when the overtime situation was created less than 24 hours from when the compensatory time was scheduled.
- An employee may request eight, ten, or twelve hours (regular shift length of time) of compensatory time per year, after having been denied Vacation or Holiday time without regard for whether the absent employee's position must be filled with an employee earning overtime. If the absent employee's position is filled with an employee earning overtime, the absent employee will use one and one half (1 1/2) hours of compensatory time for each hour so filled. This provision for compensatory time to be used, after having been denied Vacation or Holiday time, may be utilized for up to one (1) position below minimum staffing levels as determined by the Chief of Police.

ARTICLE XVIII HOLIDAYS

1) All full-time employees shall receive the following paid holidays:

New Year's Day
Martin Luther King Day
President's Day
Good Friday
Memorial Day
Independence Day

Juneteenth
Labor Day
Columbus Day
Thanksgiving Day
Christmas Day
Veterans Day

Christmas Eve Police Memorial Day (May 15th)

For employees assigned to eight (8), ten (10), or twelve (12) hour shifts, they shall receive 144 hours of paid holiday time. The Holiday time will be accounted for similar to compensatory time, in half-hour increments. No Holiday shall be approved if it necessitates an overtime officer on the shift requested off. An employee, who has been paid for holiday time prior to the time that the actual holiday occurs and then leaves

employment with the City prior to the Holiday occurring, must repay the City for such holiday pay taken.

- 2) Employees who do not work on the holiday as designated in Section 1 above shall be permitted to take another day off with pay subject to the advance approval of the Chief. There will be no restriction as to the minimum or maximum number of consecutive days off that may be granted. Should an employee be denied the holiday as requested reasonably in advance, the employee shall be compensated at his straight-time rate of pay for said holiday in the last pay period of the calendar year.
- 3) Employees who perform work on any of the holidays contained in Section 1 above shall have the option of:
 - (A) Receiving compensation at the rate of double (2) times the employee's straight time rate of pay for such time worked on the holiday, or
 - (B) Being permitted to take another day off with pay subject to the advanced approval of the Chief.

Employees electing option A above must notify the Chief or his designee during the first workweek that the department work schedule is posted by management.

- 4) Employees, who actually work on a designated paid holiday as outlined in Section 1, shall be compensated at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) times the employee's regular hourly rate for all such time worked during that day and shall be permitted to take another day off with pay, subject to advance approval of the Chief.
- Employees who work overtime for any reason (time in addition to the regular work week or schedule as defined in Article XVI Duty Hours above) on Christmas Day, hanksgiving Day, Memorial Day, or the City of Solon's July 4th fireworks event will be compensated at a rate of two and one quarter (2 ½) times the regular hourly rate defined in Article XVII.

ARTICLE XIX VACATIONS

1) Effective January 1, 2010, each full-time employee who has completed the required field training and evaluation program for the Solon Police Department shall earn and be entitled to paid vacation in accordance with the following schedule:

Length of Service w/City	<u>Hours</u>
After one (1) year	84
After five (5) years	120
After twelve (12) years	168
After fifteen (15) years	180
After seventeen (17) years	204
After twenty-five (25) years	240

Employees must use vacation hours in full shift increments. Any vacation time earned in excess of regular shift increments will be determined at the beginning of the calendar year and must be used as a single block of time off less than a full shift.

2) For employees hired on or after January 1, 2000:

Vacation shall be earned throughout an employee's anniversary year of service, and it shall not be available for usage until the completion of each anniversary year. However, vacation time may be advanced for usage from an employee's forthcoming anniversary date to January 1st of the same calendar year for scheduling purposes.

When an employee has an anniversary date of employment in a calendar year that would entitle the employee to receive an additional increment of vacation, the employee may have the additional increment added to their vacation schedule made January 1st.

Employees who leave employment before their anniversary date, but used an amount of advanced vacation time in excess of the amount they earned between January 1st to the date of their departure, shall pay the city back for the difference or unearned vacation time used. If termination occurs after January 1st but before the employee's actual anniversary date that would entitle them to an increment of vacation time, the amount of payment shall be calculated using the rate of accrual before the increment. If termination occurs after the employee's actual anniversary date that would entitle them to an increment of vacation time, the amount of payment shall be calculated using the rate of accrual before the incremental anniversary date plus the rate of accrual after the incremental anniversary date.

In the event of termination of employment with the employer for any reason, except for cause, each full time employee as provided in this section shall be entitled to payment for vacation time accrued or earned between anniversary dates but not yet credited to them (next anniversary date). Any advanced vacation time granted during this period shall be applied to accrued or earned amount to determine if the city owes the employee or the employee owes the city, and how much.

3) For employees hired before January 1, 2000:

The same basic provisions in subsection (2) above apply with the following exceptions:

Employees that began employment before January 1, 2000, shall continue to have their anniversary date of employment remain January 1st of each calendar year for vacation entitlement and scheduling of the calendar year. In addition, the employee's actual anniversary date of employment shall continue to be used for determination of incremental vacation time in accordance with the tables in this Agreement. An employee that has an actual anniversary date forthcoming in a calendar year that will entitle them to an incremental amount of vacation time, shall be able to schedule that incremental vacation time on January 1st and use it during that calendar year.

In the event of termination of employment with the employer for any reason, except for cause, full time employees that started employment before January 1, 2000, shall be

entitled to a payment for accrued vacation time between January 1st and their separation date.

For retiring employees applying for a pension, they have the option to receive a lump sum payment for accrued and unused vacation, holiday, or compensatory time, or schedule the time off consecutively prior to their separation date, as long as such usage does not require overtime coverage.

- 4) All vacation time shall be taken at a time approved of by the Chief. There shall be no restriction as to the minimum or maximum number of consecutive days off that may be granted. Should an employee be denied the vacation as requested reasonably in advance, the employee shall be compensated at his straight-rate of pay for unused vacation time in the last pay period in the calendar year. All vacation time shall be taken at a time approved of by the Chief. There shall be no restriction as to the minimum or maximum number of consecutive days off that may be granted as long as such usage does not require overtime coverage.
- 5) An employee who has earned vacation time by reason of being employed in this department shall be able to transfer his vacation time to another department of the Employer should he elect such a transfer.
- Any employee who was hired prior to January 1, 1989, and who has accumulated and earned vacation time from being employed by the State of Ohio or any political subdivision thereof and who has become employed by the Employer, shall be credited, for vacation purposes only, with his service time from the prior public employer after completion of the probationary period with the Employer.

ARTICLE XX SICK LEAVE

- 1) Sick leave shall be defined as an absence with pay necessitated by:
 - A) Illness or injury to the employee;
 - B) Exposure by the employee to contagious disease communicable to other employees;
 - C) Serious illness, injury, or death in the employee's immediate family.
- 2) All full-time employees shall earn sick leave at the rate of four and six-tenths (4.6) hours per each eighty hours in an active pay status to a maximum of 159 hours per year and may accumulate such sick leave without limit.
- An employee who is absent on sick leave shall notify the shift Officer in Charge via the dispatch center of such absence and the reason therefore at least one (1) hour before the start of his/her work shift each day he or she is to be absent. There is an understanding that employees are only required to indicate which of the above categories the sick time usage is for.
- 4) Sick leave may be used in segments of not less than one-half (1/2) hour.

- Before an absence in excess of three (3) consecutive work days may be charged against accumulated sick leave, the Chief may require such proof of illness, injury, or death, as may be satisfactory to him, or may require the employee to be examined by a physician designated by and paid by the Employer. In the case of chronic absenteeism, the Chief may, after written notice to the employee and OPBA, require such proof for absences of less than three (3) consecutive workdays.
- Any abuse of sick leave or the patterned use of sick leave shall be just and sufficient cause for discipline as may be determined by the Chief.
- 7) The Chief may require an employee who has been absent due to personal illness or injury, prior to and as a condition of his return to duty, to be examined by a physician designated and paid for by the Employer, to establish that he is not disabled from the performance of his normal duties and that his return to duty will not jeopardize the health and safety of other employees.
- When the use of sick leave is due to a serious illness or injury in the immediate family, "immediate family" shall be defined to only include the employee's children or the employee's spouse, stepchildren or parents residing with the employee. All leaves of absence will follow the City's FMLA Policy and amendments thereto.
- 9) An employee who transfers from this department to another department of the Employer shall be allowed to transfer his accumulated sick leave to the new department.
- 10) An employee who transfers from another public agency to this Department between January 1, 1987 and December 31, 1988, shall be credited with the unused balance of his accumulated sick leave, except under the provisions of Paragraph 11 below. An employee hired on or after January 1, 1989, who transfers from another public agency to this Department shall not be credited with any unused balance of accumulated sick time.
- When an employee retires or dies, the employee or his legal representative in the event of death shall be paid a lump sum for his accumulated and unused sick leave (except unused sick leave credited under Paragraph 10 above). The compensation shall be calculated as follows:
 - a) For employees hired prior to January 1, 1989, up to the first 960 hours of accumulated sick leave shall be paid to employees on an hour-for-hour basis, based on the employee's base rate of pay and longevity at the time of his death or retirement.
 - b) For employees hired on or after January 1, 1989, up to the first 600 hours of accumulated sick leave shall be paid to employees on an hour-for-hour basis, based on the employee's base rate of pay and longevity at the time of his death or retirement.
 - c) For employees hired prior to January 1, 1989, all accumulated sick leave in excess of 960 hours shall be paid to employees on the basis of one (1) hour for every three (3) hours accumulated, based on the employee's base rate of pay and longevity at the time of his death or retirement.

- d) For employees hired on or after January 1, 1989, all accumulated sick leave in excess of 600 hours shall be paid to employees on the basis of one (1) hour for every four (4) hours accumulated, based on the employee's base rate of pay and longevity at the time of his death or retirement.
- e) For purposes of this section, an employee shall be deemed to be retired when he terminates his employment and either applies for and obtains a disability pension or is eligible to receive a public employment retirement pension at the time of termination of employment. The provisions of this Section shall not apply to transfers to another public employer in a full-time capacity.
- 12) On or before December 1, and each year thereafter, a full-time employee of the City credited with sick leave credit up to a maximum of 120 hours per calendar year may elect to convert such credit into a cash benefit, or carry forward such credit to his or her balance. The conditions for the cash conversion shall be as follows:
 - (1) An employee must have at least 360 hours of sick leave credit at the end of each calendar year, exclusive of the 120 hours of sick leave credit earned for the current year in which the election is made.
 - (2) An employee may convert all sick leave credit earned and unused during a calendar year of election to a cash benefit at the rate of three-eighths, payable at the employee's current hourly rate, excluding longevity, differentials, bonuses, premium payments, regularly scheduled overtime, and all other forms of additional of supplemental compensation. Absent such an election by an employee, the sick leave credit earned and unused in a calendar year will be added to the total accrued sick leave credit balance of the employee.
- 13) For each employee hired after January 1, 2022, will be allowed a maximum of 40 hours of sick time to be added to their sick time balance, provided that they had previously worked at another police agency.

ARTICLE XXI FUNERAL LEAVE

- Funeral leave for all employees whether assigned to an eight (8), ten (10), or twelve (12) hour shift shall be granted for up to three (3) days after the death of a member of an employee's immediate family. Up to one day shall be granted after the death of other family members.
- 2) The employee shall be paid for the shift or shifts he normally would have been scheduled to work. This leave shall not be deducted from the employee's accumulated sick leave.
- 3) For purposes of this Article, the employee's immediate family is defined as: spouse, child including stepchild, parent, current parent-in-laws, stepparents, sister, brother, brother-in-law and sister-in-law.
- 4) For purposes of this Article, the employee's other family members are defined as: aunts, uncles, cousins, grandparents-in-law, grandparents, and grandchildren.

5) The Chief at his discretion and without setting precedence may extend the leave for exceptional circumstances or travel time. Proof of death and relationship may be required. The Chief at his discretion may authorize the use of sick leave and/or additional funeral leave for any extension hereunder.

ARTICLE XXII INJURY LEAVE

1) An employee who is disabled as a result of the performance of their duties, within the scope of his employment as a full-time employee of the City, if such disability prevents him from performing his duties, shall be paid his regular compensation during the continuance of such service-related disability, for a period not to exceed 180 work days for employees assigned to eight hour shifts; 144 work days for employees assigned to ten hour shifts; or, 120 days for employees assigned to twelve hour shifts from the date that such service-related disability was incurred.

During such disability leave, compensation shall be paid in accordance with this Section whether or not the regular employee has accumulated sick leave.

- 2) In no event will an employee receive more than his regular compensation while on disability leave.
- 3) For purposes of this Article, the date of injury as reported on the first report of injury will serve as the commencement date for this provision and will serve as the date of disability.
- 4) Any employee who obtains a paid leave under this Article shall file for Workers' Compensation and sign a waiver assigning the City to those sums of monies (temporary total disability benefit) he would ordinarily receive as his weekly compensation as determined by law for those number of weeks the employee receives benefits under this Article.
- Certification of the attending physician or surgeon certifying to the service-related disability and the cause thereof shall be filed with the Finance Director before the last day of each two (2) week period which disability occurred or continues, or more often, if requested to do so by Finance Director, or the Chief, and any employee receiving disability leave must, as a condition thereof, submit to a physical(s) by a physician or surgeon chosen and paid for by the City at any time.
- 6) In the event that any employee is dissatisfied with the determination of the Finance Director based on the City's medical examination, the employee may submit the questions to the Grievance Procedure.
- When an employee is injured, he may be eligible to return to work on light duty, if approved by the Chief, with the prior approval of a City-appointed physician attesting to the fact that the employee is capable of satisfactorily performing light duty. The employee on light duty shall be compensated at his regular rate of pay while performing light duty work.

8) In the event that an Employee has been exposed to a toxic substance, to an infectious disease or other potentially infectious materials in the course of his employment, and is sent to the hospital for testing, treatment and/or preventive measures, and Workers' Compensation subsequently determines that there was no injury sustained, all bills incurred due to the Employee's testing, treatment, and/or preventive measure will be submitted to the City's Medical Provider with the City agreeing to cover any charges for said bills not covered by the City's Medical Provider.

ARTICLE XXIII JURY DUTY LEAVE

- 1) a) An employee who is assigned to eight (8) or ten (10) hour shifts and is called for jury duty, either Federal, County or Municipal, shall be paid his regular rate of pay, less compensation received from such court for jury duty, as provided for in the Ohio Revised Code. If the employee is working first or third shift, the affected employee shall be placed on second shift, Monday through Friday, until jury duty is completed. If the employee is excused in sufficient time to report for work, he shall do so and work to the end of normal second shift.
 - b) An employee who is assigned to twelve (12) hour shifts and is called for jury duty, either Federal, County or Municipal, shall be paid his regular rate of pay, less compensation received from such court for jury duty, as provided for in the Ohio Revised Code. Officers will consider a jury duty day to be a work day if the officer was normally scheduled to work on that day. If the officer was on a regular day off, the officer will attend jury duty without compensation from the City. Employees scheduled to work Saturday and Sunday of the same week will still work, without additional compensation.

Officers scheduled to work the Sunday 1900-0700 shift, prior to a Monday jury duty day will be granted the Sunday off.

ARTICLE XXIV COMPENSATION

Compensation for the Employees covered under this Agreement is as follows:

	2021	2022*	2023	2024
Sergeants	\$49.1160	\$50.2211	\$51.3510	\$52.6349
	\$102,161.30	\$104,459.93	\$106,810.28	\$109,480.54
Lieutenants	\$55.0099	\$56.2476	\$57.5132	\$58.9510
	\$114,420.66	\$116,995.13	\$119,627.52	\$122,618.21

The above rates represent a two point two five percent (2.25%) increase for each agreement year, 2022 and 2023; and a two point five percent (2.50%) increase for agreement year 2024.

^{*}All bargaining unit members on the payroll as of the ratification date of the CBA shall receive a \$1,000 lump sum payment within 30 days of the execution of the CBA.

For employees appointed to such classifications, there exists a differential between the rank of Patrolman First Class and Sergeant of thirteen and a half percent (13.5%), and between the rank of Lieutenant and Sergeant of twelve percent (12.00%) for each year of this contract period.

ARTICLE XXV LONGEVITY

- 1) Employees hired prior to January 1, 1989, shall be entitled to longevity pay which shall be calculated as an additional one-half of one percent (.005) of the base salary for each full year of service.
- 2) Employees hired on or after January 1, 1989, shall be entitled to longevity pay which shall be calculated as an additional one-quarter of one percent (.0025) of the base salary for each full year of service.
- 3) For employees hired after December 31, 1986, the payment of longevity shall begin on January 1st following five (5) full years of service.
- 4) Full years of service shall be calculated on the employee's anniversary date of each year and the compensation shall be adjusted to reflect the increased amount on the first pay following January 1st, using the salary in effect on January 1st. In cases of promotion or demotion officers' compensation shall be adjusted to reflect their current pay status.
- 5) For employees hired prior to January 1, 1989, the maximum longevity pay shall be ten percent (10%).
- 6) For employees hired on or after January 1, 1989, the maximum of longevity pay shall be five percent (5%).
- 7) Time served by an employee during a probationary period shall be included in computing longevity pay. Any interruption in the service of an employee except for allowed vacation, holidays, sick leave, disciplinary suspension, and authorized leaves of absence, shall be deemed a termination of such employee's tenure in office for the purpose of determining his eligibility for longevity pay.
- 8) Longevity payments shall be divided into twenty-six (26) equal payments and added to the employee's normal bi-weekly paycheck.

ARTICLE XXVI EDUCATIONAL AND OTHER PAYS

- 1) All schools, seminars, and classes which an employee intends to attend, with the expectation of being compensated or reimbursed for expenses, must be approved by the Chief and Mayor in advance. A completion report or a certificate must be presented to the Chief upon completion.
- When employees attend required schools or formal training sessions, the Employer shall pay for all required tuition, fees, texts, meals, lodging and travel expenses, including

- mileage. If an employee fails to satisfactorily complete the BAC verifier after two attempts, he shall be responsible for the successful completion of the test given within the surrounding community at no additional expense to the Employer.
- When attendance at such schools or training session is required, it shall be considered normal working time and the employee shall receive his full pay as appropriate.
- 4) When attendance at such schools or training session is not required, but is deemed helpful by the Chief and the Mayor, the Employer shall pay for tuition and textbooks upon successful completion.
- 5) If an employee is attending an approved school when he is regularly scheduled to work, and if his absence does not necessitate the creation of overtime, he may be excused to attend said class without placement, upon approval of the Chief or his designee.
- 6) Employees who are called to Ohio National Guard or Reserve duty and are actually performing such duty shall be paid their regular salary or compensation in accordance with the City of Solon Ordinance 2003-136.
- An employee, who is required to use his private vehicle for Employer business or is to be otherwise compensated for mileage under this Agreement, shall be reimbursed in the amount permitted to be deducted by the Internal Revenue Service. Such reimbursement shall not be made unless such use is authorized in advance by the Chief or his designee.
- 8) The employer will maintain the wages, benefits and other terms and conditions of employment for all employees, when the employee is performing service in the uniformed services under Ohio R.C 5923.05 and 5903.01, and any amendments thereto. The Finance Director is specifically authorized to continue paying the employee's base wages and other benefits during the employee's service in the uniformed service as defined in the Ohio R.C. 5903.01 (G) and (H), and any amendments thereto as set forth in Ohio R.C. 5923.05 (A, (B), and (C), and any amendments thereto. If an employee remains in the uniformed services beyond any period entitling them to full pay provided by the Ohio R.C. which is currently twenty-two (22) eight hour work days or one hundred and seventy six (176) hours in any one calendar year, the Finance Director is then authorized to continue to compensate the employee the difference between the employee's gross base military pay and the employee's gross base city pay, while the employee remains in military service. In addition, the employee shall be entitled to receive all their respective benefits during both the initial period and extended period of pay while in military service.

ARTICLE XXVII UNIFORM ALLOWANCE/MAINTENANCE

All non-probationary employees shall receive an annual uniform allowance in the amount of \$1,700.00, which shall include footwear approved by the Chief. This amount shall be paid on or before March 1 of each calendar year. If an employee leaves employment with the City, the uniform allowance shall be pro-rated as applicable.

- The cost incurred by the employee for any required change in uniform shall be borne by the Employer. When a change of assignment necessitates the change in uniform, the cost of outer garments or equipment may or may not be incurred by the Employer, at the Chief's discretion. This section is not applicable to detective assignments and/or uniforms.
- 3) Detectives shall receive an additional \$50.00 per month for each full month of assignment to the Detective Bureau and payment shall be made in the following month.
- Any employee shall receive reimbursement for the purchase of soft-body armor or the replacement of soft-body armor provided that employees provide proof of purchase and that employees wear such soft-body armor during all duty hours. Employees are only entitled to the foregoing reimbursement once every five (5) years unless they effectively demonstrate that such soft-body armor has been damaged or otherwise ruined for reasons other than their own negligence.
- 5) Employees promoted shall receive a "Promotional" uniform allowance in an amount to be determined by the Employer in order to satisfy the actual expenses incurred for uniform changes specified and approved by the Chief or his designee.

ARTICLE XXVIII PROFICIENCY ALLOWANCE

This section is being eliminated by the mutual consent and approval of both parties. Any and all benefits and value provided by this section are now incorporated into the 2019 and thereafter, ARTICLE XXIV, COMPENSATION chart. As such there is no monetary loss to the Union Members, nor any financial gain to the City. The intent is to eliminate a separate payment both now and in the future.

ARTICLE XXIX INSURANCE

A) Health Care Insurance

- Plan Options. All members shall be entitled to enroll into the health care plans offered by the city. One plan option will be known as the Base Plan, as attached as Exhibit B, and any other plan options shall be referred to as alternative plans offered pursuant to this section and elsewhere herein. The City will provide the certificate of coverage documents for the plan year as they are made available by the insurance carrier(s). Additional plans may be introduced, and members may enroll during the annual open enrollment period or other enrollment period under part 11.
- 2) <u>Coverage Selection</u>. Each member will be entitled to select coverage for himself/herself and his/her immediate family, including hospitalization, major medical protection, prescription drug coverage, vision care, dental care including orthodontia care.

- 3) <u>Coverage Proposals</u>. The City will solicit proposals for health insurance coverage for the plans offered to employees on a periodic basis and by a method determined by the City.
- 4) <u>Plan Eligibility</u>. For purposes of this health care insurance, the Employee's immediate family shall include his/her spouse. Immediate family shall also include all children up to an age required by ACA or as required by law for a compliant plan. Additional persons may be added over and above "standard" family rates and to the extent permitted by the carrier.
- 5) <u>Base Prescription Coverage</u>. Prescription Drug coverage is provided under the base plan. The co-pays for prescriptions for the base plan will be in accordance with the schedule below:
 - 2022-2023: Rx Co-Pay Effective: Retail: (30 days) Generic \$10.00; Formulary \$25.00; Non-Formulary \$65.00.
 - 2024: RX Co-Pay Effective Retail: (30 days) Generic \$20.00; Formulary \$40.00; Non-Formulary \$110.00; Specialty 25% of Cost up to a maximum of \$250.
- 6) <u>Preventative Care</u>. Preventive Care in all plans shall include routine colonoscopies for individuals' age fifty (50) and over, in accordance with the Affordable Care Act (ACA), or as required by law for a compliant plan.
- 7) <u>Base Prescription Coverage/Mail Order Requirements</u>. Employees and their families covered by the City's Base Health Insurance Plan may use mail order for prescriptions (three months or more). Mail order rates shall be as follows:
 - 2022-2023: (90 Days) Generic \$15.00; Formulary \$37.50; Non-Formulary \$97.50
 - 2024: (90 Days) Generic drugs \$40.00 mail order; Brand/Formulary Drugs \$80/00 mail order; Non-Formulary Drugs \$220.00 mail order; Specialty Drugs 25% to a maximum of \$250 mail order.
- 8) <u>Emergency Coverage</u>. In an emergency, covered members should always go to the nearest appropriate medical facility; your benefits will not be reduced if you go to a Non Network Hospital in an emergency.
- 9) <u>Insurance Opt-Out Payment</u>. If an out of town medical emergency situation occurs by an employee, or their covered dependents, regarding the application of the specified insurance benefits, the Human Resource Director will attempt to negotiate any financial relief to the employee on a case by case basis.
- Insurance Benefit/Carrier Changes/Self-Insurance. The Employer may substitute carriers (including self-insurance) for a plan substantially equal in benefits to the plan being replaced where changes are being made to the Base Plan. Any substitution of Base Plan carrier shall only be made City wide, and prior to any such change, members shall be notified in advance to meet and confer thereon.

- 11) <u>Alternative Plans</u>. Other supplemental insurance plans may be offered to employees by the Employer. Employees shall have the option of enrolling in such plan on a voluntary basis.
- 12) <u>Plan Eligibility After Hire</u>. Employees shall be eligible for all health benefits as of the first day of the month following the commencement of their employment.
- 13) <u>Life Insurance</u>. Employees shall be eligible for a term life insurance policy in the amount of twenty-five thousand dollars (\$25,000.00).
- Insurance Committee/Recommendations. The parties agree that in their continued efforts to reduce hospitalization and other costs, a city wide Joint Medical/Hospitalization Insurance Committee will be maintained and convened as necessary to review alternative insurance coverage plans and make recommendations to the City. It is understood that such recommendations do not obligate either party contractually.
- Member Contribution Rates/Base Plan. Members electing to participate in the Base Plan shall be subject to a monthly contribution as follows: Effective January 1, 2022 8.0% 5% of COBRA Rates for Medical and Prescription.

B) Opt-Out Program

All members are to be given the option to Opt-Out of the City health care program. Members who choose to enter the Opt-Out program shall be compensated fifteen (15%) of the yearly COBRA rate for health care to be paid in four (4) quarterly payments.

Members who Opt-Out of the City's health care program shall still be entitled to maintain dental and vision coverage and life insurance on the same terms and conditions as those employees who elect not to Opt-Out. In addition, employees must comply with all administrative requirements established by the Director of Human Resources. Employees whose spouses are also employed by the City of Solon are not eligible to participate in this program.

ARTICLE XXX DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE POLICY AND RULES FOR CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE AND ALCOHOL TESTING

A. Introduction

The parties are committed to maintaining an efficient, effective, and safe work environment in order to safeguard personnel, property, equipment, and the citizens being served. The Employer and the public also have a reasonable expectation that employees will be free from the effects of drugs and alcohol. The Employer has the right to expect employees to report for work fit and able for duty. As a result, the Employer and the OPBA agree that it is the purpose of this article to absolve or eliminate illegal drug usage

and/or alcohol abuse problems through education and rehabilitation of any affected employee.

Employees' action regarding possession and usage of alcohol or drugs, both on and off duty is governed under the Rules and Regulations for the Operation of the Solon Police Department and the Employer's Drug Free Workplace Policy. To ensure conformance to the Rules and the goals of a drug and alcohol free workplace, employees will be subjected to alcohol and/or drug testing under any of three distinct circumstances as described in Sections B, C, and D below. Acceptable testing procedures and methodologies are described in Section E, below.

B. Post-Accident Testing

Drug and alcohol testing of employees will be conducted following a motor vehicle accident if all the following conditions exist:

- 1. While driving a City vehicle the employee is involved in an accident and is cited for a moving violation of any kind, and,
- 2. Any involved vehicle requires towing from the scene, and,
- 3. Any personnel involved requires medical treatment away from the scene of the incident, and,
- 4. Injury occurs that requires medical treatment beyond the first aid and/or lost time, and,
- 5. Damage to property exceeds \$2,000 (Two Thousand Dollars and 00.100).

C. Reasonable Suspicion Testing

If objective evidence exists and is documented which establishes reasonable cause to believe that an employee's work performance is impaired due to drug or alcohol use or abuse, an employee will be required to submit to drug and alcohol testing. Each time there is cause for reasonable suspicion testing, separate suitable documentation shall be prepared and maintained by the Employer.

D. Random Drug and Alcohol Testing

Employees covered under this Agreement are subject to "random" drug and alcohol testing subject to the procedures and methodologies described in Section E below, at the following percentage:

- 1. All covered employees will be subject to a random test at a rate of 10% per annum out of the pool of all City employees. Any bargaining unit member who must have a commercial driver's license as a condition of employment shall be part of the city's commercial driver's license pool for purposes of random drug and alcohol testing with all other provisions of this article to apply.
- 2. The Human Resources Director shall submit a list of active personnel on the city's payroll to the city's Third Party Administrator who administers the random selection, prior to January 31st of each year. Ten percent (10%) of the active personnel recorded

on the list shall be randomly pulled for testing. This list shall exclude CDL driver's currently participating in random testing in accordance with Federal Department of Transportation regulations and Seasonal Employees and shall be provided to the bargaining unit.

- 3. No covered employee will be entered into the pool subject to random drug and alcohol testing until such time as recommended training has been provided by the Employer to meet Ohio B.W.C. minimum standards (two hour training for employees, additional four hour training for supervisors). Newly hired covered employees will be entered into the pool as soon as they have been provided similar training. This required training will also cover the Employer's Drug Free Workplace Policy as it applies under the terms of this Agreement. No covered employee will be entered into the pool subject to random drug and alcohol testing until being provided with a copy of the Employer's Drug Free Workplace Police, a copy of the Rules and Regulation for the Operation of the Solon Police Department, and being given the opportunity to sign an acknowledgement that the training and documents have been received.
- 4. The Employer will contract with an independent third party to provide random selection services through the use of a computerized random number generation program at the percentage discussed above. To maintain confidentiality of the process, the third party contractor will exclusively have contact with the Assistant Chief of Police and/or the Director of Human Resources for purposes of notifying selected employees that they have been assigned to be tested.
- 5. As the purpose of "random" testing is to proactively keep employees and citizens safe from the effects of illegal drugs and alcohol in the workplace, all "random" testing of covered employees will be for illegal drugs, amphetamines & opiates, and alcohol. At the time of each individual test, such testing shall be for illegal drugs, amphetamines, opiates, or alcohol.

E. Testing and Methodologies

In an effort to ensure the accuracy, confidentiality and trustworthiness of the process, the following methodologies will be required:

1. Medical Review Officer

The Medical Review Officer (MRO) plays a key role in the testing process, in both interpretations of test results as well as notification of involved parties. As such, the MRO must be a licensed physician in the state of Ohio who maintains current certification from the Medical Review Officer Certification Council (MROCC) or the American Association of Medical Review Officers (AAMRO).

The MRO must examine alternative medical explanations for any positive test results. This action will include conducting a medical interview with the affected employee, review of the employee's medical history and review any other relevant biomedical factors. Upon request, the MRO must review all-medical records made available by

the tested employee when a confirmed-positive test could have resulted from a legally prescribed medication.

The MRO may not have any business relationship with the laboratory used for testing that causes a conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest as defined under D.O.T. guidelines.

2. Sample Collection

The collection of samples shall be performed only by health care professionals who are qualified and authorized to do such collections and meet current D.O.T. collection standards and certification requirements, operating under the direction of the MRO approved in subsection E (1) above. Documentation that collectors have met D.O.T. training requirements for both drug and alcohol testing are to be provided to the city's Director of Human Resources by March 1st of each calendar year and provided to the collective bargaining unit.

Blood or urine samples will be submitted as per National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA) standards and D.O.T. guidelines under 49 CFR Part 40. Employees have the right to have a witness or a designated representative present during the collection/submission of any sample, unless this causes a delay beyond thirty minutes for such collection/submission. The collection site will operate using non-federal testing that follows the federal model. A sufficient sample will be collected in all cases to provide for split specimen testing.

The collection site will begin the chain of custody of all samples submitted using the federal model, identifying each specimen through use of an identifying number only with no other employee information. Identities of each employee will be kept in the custody of the MRO/collection site.

3. Alcohol Testing

Preliminary alcohol testing will be by a certified technician as provided for above, using an Evidentiary Breath Testing Instrument. Certification of the instrument designated for use must be provided to the Director of Human Resources prior to March 1, of each year testing is to occur.

A preliminary test result of .04 grams per 210 liters of breath will be considered positive. Preliminary test results that are below .04 shall result in the discontinuation of testing. Test results that are positive shall result in an immediate confirmatory test being run. The confirmatory test shall be a second breath alcohol content test unless the bargaining unit member requests a blood alcohol content test. Sample handling procedures as detailed in subsection E (2) above shall apply. A confirmatory test result of .04 grams per 100 ml of blood and/or .04 grams per 210 liters of breath will be considered a positive test result and reported to the MRO.

4. Laboratory Procedures

The laboratory utilized for blood and urine testing will be designated by the Employer after a recommendation of the OPBA prior to March 1, of each calendar year in which testing is to take place. The laboratory must have a current certification that it meets College of American Pathologists' Forensic Drug Testing Accreditation standards as well as proof that it is operating with Department of Health and Human Services/Substance abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) certification.

Strict chain of custody procedures must be followed for all samples as set by NIDA. The Employer and the OPBA agree that security of submitted biological samples is such a paramount issue that any breach of the chain of custody or apparent tampering with sample integrity results immediately in an invalid sample that may not be used for any purposes. A split sample shall be reserved in all cases for an independent analysis in the event of a positive test result. All samples must be stored in a scientifically acceptable preservation manner as established by NIDA. All positive confirmed samples and related paperwork must be retained by the laboratory for at least one year or for the duration of any grievance, disciplinary action, or legal proceedings regarding the sample, whichever is longer. At the conclusion of said period, the sample is to be destroyed along with laboratory maintained paperwork.

The laboratory is authorized to test only for the following drugs or classes of drugs:

marijuana metabolites, cocaine metabolites, opiate metabolites, Phencyclidine, and amphetamines. The laboratory shall test only for these substances within the limits of initial and confirmation tests as currently defined by DHHS/SAMHSA. Initial testing will consist of a preliminary immunoassay (EMIT Screen). If initial testing results are negative, testing shall be discontinued.

Under this Agreement, the following cutoff levels shall be used in determining test results as positive or negative:

<u> Prelim. Cutoff</u>	Confirm. Cutoff
100 ng/ml	15 ng/ml
300 ng/ml	150 ng/ml
2,000 ng/ml	2,000 ng/ml
25 ng/ml	25 ng/ml
1,000 ng/ml	500 ng/ml
	100 ng/ml 300 ng/ml 2,000 ng/ml 25 ng/ml

The laboratory will report to the MRO and subject to the MRO's investigation of alternative medical explanations, positive results in the case where both the preliminary and confirmatory test results are positive as to the same sample and the MRO's independent investigation provides no reasonable alternative medical explanation. All initial and confirmatory testing shall be performed at a certified laboratory and not at any individual collection site.

In the event that tests are altered, invalid, diluted positive or positive test results, upon request to the MRO, each covered employee will be provided with a report of the confirmed positive results of each test that includes the types of tests conducted, the

results of each test, the detection level used by the laboratory and any other information provided to the Employer by the laboratory.

F. Positive Test Results

In the case of alcohol testing, if a covered employee tests at a level greater than .04 grams per 210 liters of breath during the preliminary test, that employee will be immediately relieved from duty and not permitted to return to work for 24 hours following the administration of the test. In the event the 24 hour time period overlaps an employee's regularly scheduled shift, the employee shall use leave in the following order to cover the overlapping time period: vacation and/or holidays; compensatory time; and then sick leave. No further action will be taken until the results of confirmatory blood tests are received through the MRO, if such test has been requested by the bargaining unit member.

In the case of a first time positive confirmatory test for alcohol or a positive test for drugs after review by the MRO, appropriate notification and receipt of results as indicated in Section E(4) above, the employee shall be provided the opportunity to participate in and satisfy a rehabilitation treatment program as recommended and administrated by the Employer's EAP. Employees who complete such rehabilitation program will be re-tested at random times, once every quarter for the following twenty-four months. Treatment and rehabilitation shall be paid for by the employee's insurance program. Employees will be allowed to use any accrued and earned paid time off for the necessary time off involved in the rehabilitation program. Once the employee successfully completes the required rehabilitation treatment, they shall be returned to regular full duty status. Once all follow-up care has been completed, and five (5) years have passed since the employee entered the program, the employee's personnel file shall be purged of any reference to drug/alcohol testing and treatment.

If an employee declines to participate in the EAP, they shall be immediately subject to disciplinary action as per the Department Rules and Regulations and in accordance with Article IX.

If an employee tests positive for drugs and/or alcohol during the twenty-four month period after initial entry into the EAP, they shall be subject to disciplinary action as per the Department Rules and Regulations and in accordance with Article IX. The employee shall be solely responsible for any costs, not covered by insurance, which arise from necessary additional counseling or treatment.

If an employee tests positive for drugs and/or alcohol a second or subsequent time, after completion of a required EAP and the passing of the twenty-four month quarterly testing period, they shall be subject to disciplinary action as per the Department Rules and Regulations up to and including discharge and in accordance with Article IX.

Any employee who fails to provide a sample or appear for testing under any of the three testing circumstances in Sections B, C, and D of this Article will be considered to have a positive test result for purposes of disciplinary actions in accordance with Article IX.

G. Employee Rights

Covered employees who voluntarily seek assistance with drug and/or alcohol related problems, shall not be subject to any disciplinary or adverse employment action by the Employer by reason of seeking such assistance, other than the Employer may require reassignment of the employee with pay if he is then unfit for duty in his current assignment. Such assistance must be sought prior to the provision of any biological sample which results in a positive test for the employee.

The OPBA and/or the employee, with or without the OPBA, shall have the right to file a grievance concerning any aspect of this Article in accordance with Article XI, including, but not limited to: contesting the basis for reasonable suspicion testing under Section C above, contesting the administration of any required test, contesting the significance and accuracy of any test, and contesting the consequences of any required test or result. The Parties agree that this Article is in no way intended to restrict, diminish, or otherwise injure or impair any legal right that an employee may have with regard to such testing. Employees retain any such rights as may exist and may pursue the same at their own discretion, with or without the assistance of the OPBA.

Any employee who tests positive for drugs and/or alcohol may request, fourteen (14) days of notification of positive result, that the separately maintained split portion of the sample that resulted in the positive test be submitted to an independent laboratory, certified as required in Section E (4) above, at the Employee's expense, for independent confirmation of the accuracy of the testing procedures. If such test is negative, the Employer will reimburse the Employee's expense for such independent confirmation.

Test results that result in an employee entering an EAP are "medical records" as defined in Ohio Rev. Code § 149.43 (A)(3) if they are utilized for diagnosis and treatment of a medical condition are therefore **not** public records subject to release by the Employer.

The Employer agrees that any communication, whether verbal, written, electronic or otherwise, made by an employee to any professional involved in an EAP is confidential and privileged. Such communication shall be protected from disclosure unless otherwise legally required. Information about an employee's participation in an EAP shall not be disclosed to anyone without written permission from the employee.

H. Testing Program Costs

The Employer shall pay for all costs involved with drug and alcohol testing as well as expenses related to the MRO, the collection facility, or the independent third party contractor designated to administrate the random selection process. All time spent administering a drug or alcohol test under this Article, including travel time, will be paid at the employee's regular rate of pay, or at their overtime rate, if applicable. Should a split sample test completed at the request of an employee after a confirmed positive result come back as a negative result, the Employer shall reimburse the employee for all work time lost during the interim and the employee shall be immediately reinstated to full duty status with all records of the drug and alcohol testing expunged from the employee's file.

I. Employer's Responsibility

This Article was initiated at the request of the Employer. The Employer assumes sole responsibility for the administration of their policies and procedures regarding this Article and shall be solely liable for any legal obligations and costs arising out of the provisions and/or application of the Agreement regarding drug and alcohol testing.

J. Changes in Testing Procedures

The Parties recognize that during the life of this Agreement, there may be improvements in the technology of testing procedures which provide for more accurate testing. In that event, the Parties will bargain in good faith whether to amend this Article to include such improvements. If the Parties are unable to agree on amendments there is no obligation on either Party to negotiate, in accordance with Article XIV.

K. Conflict with Laws

This Article is in no way intended to supersede or waive any constitutional or other rights that any employee may be entitled to under Federal or State statutes.

L. Medical Marijuana

While the State of Ohio has authorized a medical marijuana system, the City of Solon policy does not recognize the medical use of a substance that is and remains a Schedule I controlled substance under superseding Federal Law. Pursuant to the Employer's zero tolerance policy, and with every attempt to prevent illegal drug usage or abuse problems, a test result for marijuana above the limits as stated in the Article will be considered a positive test subject to EAP or disciplinary action as delineated within the policy. The possession of a medical marijuana card, prescription, or recommendation does not excuse an employee from compliance with this policy and any test result in excess of the thresholds established herein shall be considered a violation of the policy and the CBA.

ARTICLE XXXI MISCELLANEOUS

- 1) In any instance where the Employer sends an employee for a medical examination, the Employer shall pay the cost of the examination and shall pay the employee for the time expended to take such examination.
- 2) The OPBA will be allowed one (1) locked bulletin board for official OPBA notices, and a mailbox at the police station.
- 3) Employees shall have the right to engage in any political activities except those specifically restricted in Section 124.57 of the Ohio Revised Code.
- 4) Security work, including traffic control and uniform work of any kind and wherever located shall be performed only with the consent of the Chief and under departmental general orders, rules, and regulations, provided however, consent shall not be withheld

for arbitrary or capricious reasons. Part-time non-security work may be performed by employees after notification to the Chief, who may refuse to permit such work only for good cause.

All full-time employees have the right to participate in the City's Tuition Reimbursement Program (see Exhibit A) and any amendments thereto.

ARTICLE XXXII LAYOFFS

- 1) Members of the bargaining unit may be laid-off only for lack of work or lack of funds.
- 2) In the event of a layoff situation, members of the bargaining unit will be laid-off in accordance with their departmental seniority (last hired, first laid off).
- 3) A member of the bargaining unit who is laid-off shall retain recall rights for a period of three (3) years from the last date of actual employment.
- 4) A recall from layoff will be based upon departmental seniority (last laid off, first recalled).
- 5) Before any full-time employee may be laid-off, all part-time employees will be first laid-off.

ARTICLE XXXIII LABOR MANAGEMENT RELATIONS

In the interest of sound Labor-Management relations, the Safety Director and/or his designee may meet with not more than three (3) representatives of the Union to discuss pending problems and to promote a more harmonious labor-management relationship. The Article does not modify Article XIV, nor shall it substitute for the grievance and arbitration provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE XXXIV SAVINGS CLAUSE

In the event any one or more provisions of this Agreement is or are deemed invalid or unenforceable by any final decision of a court or governmental agency, that portion shall be deemed severable from the rest of the Agreement and all such other parts of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. In such event, the Employer and the OPBA will, at the request of either party hereto, promptly enter into negotiations relative to the particular provision deemed invalid or unenforceable.

ARTICLE XXXV GROUP HEALTH CARE REIMBURSEMENT ACCOUNT

Group Health Care Reimbursement Account (HRA) Plan.

The City of Solon agrees to participate in a Group Healthcare Reimbursement Account (HRA) Plan for Public Sector Labor Association Employee (the Plan) in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Plan's Participation Agreement. The Employer agrees to contribute to the Plan on behalf of the following employees:

1) Members of the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association (Sgt./Lt.)

The amount contributed by the Employer to the participants Insurance Premium Reimbursement account shall be within the guidelines established by the Collective Bargaining Agreement in effect and the Plan chosen by the members. The amount contributed by the Employer to the participants Insurance Premium Reimbursement account shall be a percentage to be determined by the members of their total separation pay, defined as accumulated and unused sick, vacation, holiday, longevity, and compensatory time, from the City upon retirement or other methods agreed to by both parties, as allowed by law.

ARTICLE XXXVI TUITION REIMBURSEMENT PURPOSE

The purpose of the Tuition Reimbursement Program is to assist full-time City of Solon employees in developing themselves in their current positions or for possible future positions within the City. The City offers reimbursement for courses of study which support both the community plans and future objectives of the City and meet the individual aspirations of the employee. The Tuition Reimbursement Program reimburses for planned employee development programs leading to a degree, professional certification, or license. While successful completion of a course of study improves educational background, it does not obligate the City to reward such completion through promotion, transfer, reassignment, or wage or salary increase.

ELIGIBILITY

All full-time City of Solon employees with six months of service are eligible to participate in the Tuition Reimbursement Program. An employee must be on the payroll on the date the course or semester begins and ends in order to receive reimbursement. However, the City may reimburse costs if the employee is affected by a reduction-in-force before the competition of a course.

PRIOR APPROVAL

Employees must submit an approved Application for Tuition Reimbursement Form at least two weeks prior to the course date. Application forms are available through the Human Resources Department. The application must be signed by the Department Head and the Mayor and forward to Human Resources for processing.

CRITERIA AND EXCLUSIONS

The program is primarily intended to cover specialized courses of study and programs leading to a degree, professional certification or license which link the current and future business priorities of the City with the individual aspirations of the employee. In some cases, the program can also be used for single courses of study, which will improve the employee's effectiveness on the job or for a possible future position through transfer or promotion.

In order to be approved for reimbursement, all courses and educational programs must be accredited by a nationally-recognized accredited body. The accrediting institution of post-secondary education must meet U.S. Department of Education eligibility requirements.

Courses that are of short duration, such as but not limited to, workshops and seminars given by consultants or commercial training organizations are considered as training and are not eligible for education assistance.

Courses taken to maintain certifications or licenses must be taken at an accredited college or university or through a source recognized by the state or national professional organization governing the certified or licensed professional.

Employees attending institutions using alternative types of instruction-home study, satellite, or on-line networks, may be reimbursed when programs lead to a professional certificate or degree.

All courses must have prior approval through your Department Head.

AMOUNT OF REIMBURSEMENT

The amount of reimbursement available to the employee is based on IRS guidelines. The current limit is \$5,250 per calendar year. The reimbursement will be paid upon successful completion of the course. In accordance with current IRS regulations, applicable taxes may be withheld at the time of payment. Because tax laws continue to change, program participants should consult Human Resources for the latest information about the tax status of tuition reimbursements.

The program will reimburse the difference an employee receives from other education benefits (i.e., Veterans Administration, scholarships, or grants). The amount of reimbursement will be as follows:

- 100% for grade C or above, numerical equivalent or certificate of statement of satisfactory completion. Passing if grading system is Pass/Fail.
- 0% for grade D or lower or statement of unsatisfactory completion.

COST ELIGIBLE FOR REIMBURSEMENT

The following costs are considered eligible for reimbursement:

- Tuition
- Required Books
- Mandatory Fees
- Registration
- Lab Fees

ONE TIME ONLY REIMBURSEMENT FOR

- Preparatory courses and exams for professional-related certificates and licenses (such as, but not limited to CPA, FCC, Bar Exam, GMAT, SAT, LSAT, and Certified Professional Engineers).
- Credit by Examination. Review fees for CLEP examinations of lieu of course or exam and upon receipt of grade(s) or letter of completion.

Reimbursement to the employee will be issued upon completion of the course or exam and upon receipt of grade(s) or letter of completion.

Annual professional fees required by the City of Solon for an employee's current position may be reimbursed in accordance with applicable Finance department guidelines.

COSTS NOT ELIGIBLE FOR REIMBURSEMENT

- Application fees
- Fees to obtain transcripts
- Mics. Materials, computer equipment, connect charges, postage
- Parking
- Courses of study offered by non-accredited schools or institutions not recognized by the U.S. Department of Education as nationally recognized accredited institutions, except for those courses taken to maintain certification or licenses.
- Courses of study and license examinations for real estate license, except for those employees actually employed in a position where they are actively acquiring property for the City.
- Late registration fees
- Payment charges

APPLICATION FOR TUITION REIMBURSEMENT:

To apply for tuition reimbursement, an employee must complete an Application for Tuition Reimbursement Form, attach requested documentation (if receiving a grant or scholarship), and obtain signatures from your Department Head and the Mayor. The application is to be submitted to the Human Resources for final processing.

If employees are receiving financial assistance through the Veterans Administration, grants or scholarships, the City of Solon will deduct the amount received and will reimburse the remaining balance based on the employee attaining grade levels stipulated under the "Amount of Reimbursement." Documentation of such assistance must be submitted with the Application for Tuition Reimbursement. Misrepresentation of other education assistance may result in the employee being barred from future participation in the program, repayment of funds expended by the City, and disciplinary action up to and including termination.

Applications must be received by Human Resources at least two weeks prior to commencing classes. An employee cannot assume approval of reimbursement until he or she has been notified by the Human Resources Department that their application has been approved.

CHANGES IN COURSEWORK

Employees will be reimbursed for the actual courses stated on the application for Tuition Reimbursement. No substitutions will be allowed at the time of reimbursement. If changes occur in the employee's coursework after approval has been given, the employee must notify Human Resources within two weeks of the change.

REIMBURSEMENT

Upon completion of the approved course(s), the following must be submitted to Human Resources for reimbursement:

- 1. A copy of the Approved Application for Tuition Reimbursement.
- 2. A copy of the grade report or certificate of completion.
- 3. A receipt of payment for tuition and reimbursable fees.

The reimbursable amount will be paid by manual check.

MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY

Managers and above are responsible for reviewing and approving applications. In reviewing such applications, approving managers should check the courses of study for their relevance to the City's current and future plans. A manager may not refuse to approve an application due solely to budget restraints

EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITY

- Employee should be sure that courses for which reimbursement is requested are provided by an accredited institution.
- Applications must be submitted at least two weeks prior to commencing classes.
- Employees are also responsible for ensuring that their educational courses do not interfere with their normal job responsibilities. Approval for a program does not excuse an employee from performing normal job responsibilities.
- Employees must retain receipts and a copy of grades in order to be reimbursed. Employees have one year to submit these documents for reimbursement. If this information has not been received within one year of the course start date, the original application will be discarded.
- Employees must submit all receipts and payment records associated with educational benefits received from other sources.
- If an employee's Application for Tuition Reimbursement is denied by management (without justifiable cause or satisfactory reasoning), an employee may seek consultation with the Human Resources Manager.

RESTRICTIONS/REPAYMENT OBLIGATION

Employees who receive tuition reimbursement and voluntarily leave employment prior to three years from the date of their last reimbursement, will be required to pay back all tuition reimbursement received within three years from the date of their resignation. Voluntary leave does not include disability retirement. The city may deduct amounts for this purpose from the departing employee's final paycheck(s). The Director of Law may institute legal proceedings to collect any remaining unpaid tuition reimbursement.

HUMAN RESOURCES RESPONSIBILITY

The Human Resources Department is responsible for the overall administration of the Tuition Reimbursement Program.

Attached is the Application Form for Tuition Reimbursement. This form must be submitted for approval no later than two weeks prior to the start of the course. For reimbursement, the following information must be presented:

- Proof of enrollment/payment
- Proof of completion with acceptable grade of C or better

Please contact the Human Resources Department if you have any questions.

ARTICLE XXXVII DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement represents the complete Agreement on all matters subject to bargaining between the Employer and the OPBA and except as otherwise noted herein shall become effective January 1, 2022 and shall remain in full force and effect until December 31, 2024 and from year to year thereafter unless either party desires to make changes in the Agreement, it shall notify the other party at least sixty (60) days prior to September 30, 2024 or September 30 of any subsequent year of such desire. Such notice shall be in writing, delivered to in the case of the City, the Mayor of the City of Solon, and in the case of the Union, to the OPBA box in the police station. If such notice is given, this Agreement shall remain in effect until the parties reach agreement on a new contract.

ARTICLE XXXVIII EXECUTION

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed this 22 day of FEBRUARY, 2022.

FOR THE OPBA	FOR THE EMPLOYER
BY 547 2	BY Eward H. Kraus
Lt. Of	·
Det for Dani	
Approved as to Legal Form	2/-1
Thomas Lobe Esq. Director of Law	Date: 422/2

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (EXHIBIT A)

This Memorandum of Understanding is dated	, 20 and is relative to
Emergency Request for Voluntary Sick Leave	Donations and is by and between the Ohio
Patrolmen's Benevolent Association for Patroln	nen, Sergeants and Lieutenants of the Police
Department and the City of Solon.	

Emergency Request for Voluntary Sick Leave Donations

Employees in the Solon Police Department that are members of the Ohio Patrolmen's Benevolent Association (OPBA) Collective Bargaining Units for Patrolmen and Sergeants & Lieutenants shall be entitled to voluntarily donate earned but unused accumulated paid sick leave to another employee who has filed an Emergency Request for Voluntary Sick Leave Donations form in the same form as attached hereto as Exhibit A. Members receiving the donated sick leave hours must have exhausted their own sick leave, vacation, and holiday time banks prior to using any time in their emergency bank.

In addition, the following stipulations apply:

- 1) A member who has exhausted all of their leave balances may request donations for sick leave from other members. The criteria for qualifying making this request are outlined in Section 260.08(a) of the Solon Codified Ordinances which states in part: "The use of such credit shall be permitted for any of the following: personal illness; pregnancy; injury; exposure to contagious disease; and/or illness or injury in the employee's immediate family," as defined in Article XX of this Collective Bargaining Agreement.
- 2) A member may donate their earned, but unused, accumulated paid sick leave to a requesting member, however, the member must retain at least 360 hours banked after the donation. Any member donating shall have such donated time deducted from their accumulated sick time balance.
- Any agreement to donate should be submitted in writing on the Emergency Request for Voluntary Sick Leave Donation form signed by the contributing employee and subject to the signed approval by the Police Chief. This request form should then be forwarded to the Mayor, Human Resource Director and Finance Director for approval. A copy of the request form shall be forwarded to the Finance Department and placed in the employee's personnel file. Any time pledged is considered donated.
- 4) Any emergency donations not used by the requesting member shall be proportionally returned to the employees who voluntarily donated to the requesting employee's emergency bank. No donating member may receive time back greater than what was donated. If the unused balance divided by the donors is not an even integer, the Chief will determine how to return the unused time giving priority to the first donors.

	s Memorandum of Understanding is contingent upon approval of Solon City Council. It end that the term of this Agreement shall be from the date of City approval through Decemb 2021.		
For the Union:		For the City:	
•			

Members may not donate more than eighty (80) hours per requesting employee per incident. In addition, leave time must be utilized in increments of not less than eight (8) hours with a maximum donation of 480 hours (12 weeks) per requesting employee, per

5)

incident.

EXHIBIT A EMERGENCY REQUEST FOR VOLUNTARY SICK LEAVE DONATION FORM

Employee Making Request			
I,(Print Name)	request to receive voluntary sick leave		
donations from other qualified employees.			
(Signature)	(Date)		
Employee Making Donation			
I,(Print Name)	request to voluntarily donate (not more		
than 80 hours) sick leave hours	to the following employee:		
(Signature)	(Date)		
Approvals			
Police Chief	Date:		
Mayor	Date:		
H.R. Director	Date:		
Finance Director	Date:		

EXHIBIT B

Employee Health Care Cost Matrix

Exhibit B

		2022-2023	2024	
Insurance Plan	Coverage	Base Plan	Base Plan	
Insurance Plan Design 2		90/10	85/15	
Deductible Limits 3	Single	\$350	\$475	
	Family	\$700	\$950	
Coinsurance Limits 3	Single	\$750	\$875	
	Family	\$1500	\$1650	
Co-Pays				
Office Visits (Preventative)			\$0.00	
Office Visits		\$20.00	\$20.00	
Specialist Visit			\$40.00	
Urgent Care 4		\$35.00	\$40.00	
Emergency Room Visits 5		\$50.00	\$150.00	
Employee Contributions 6	Employee	8.0% of COBRA	8.0% of COBRA	
(per month)	Emp + Spouse	8.0% of COBRA	8.0% of COBRA	
,	Emp + Child(ren)	8.0% of COBRA	8.0% of COBRA	
	Emp+Sp+Child(ren)	8.0% of COBRA	8.0% of COBRA	

- 1. The contract or certificate of coverage provided by the carrier(s) will contain the complete listing of covered services.
- 2. Non-network services will be covered under a 70/30 coverage basis in accordance with the certificate of coverage for the plan year.
- 3. Deductible and Coinsurance expenses incurred for services by a network provider will also apply to the non-network deductible and co-insurance out-of-pocket limits.
- 4. Urgent Care Visits are covered 100% after the co-pay and deductible are met.
- 5. Emergency Room Services are covered 100% after the co-pay is met.
- 6. Employee contribution for Base Plan is based on a percentage of the expected fully insured equivalent cost (COBRA) for the corresponding tier of coverage.